SID J. WHITE

DEC 4 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL PETERKA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,995

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

> ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR #271543

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is a capital case in which the State used solely circumstantial evidence to prove the defendant's guilt. There are several significant guilt and penalty issues for this court to consider. References to the record on appeal will be by the letter "T."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Okaloosa County on August 10, 1989 charged Daniel Peterka with one count of First Degree Murder (T 1947-48). He pled not guilty to that offense, and later he filed some motions which are relevant to this appeal:

- Motion to Suppress the results of a search of the house he lived in (T 2018). Denied (T 356).
- 2. Motion to Suppress the various statements he made to the police (T 2019). Granted in part (T 357).
- 3. Motion in Limine to prevent the state from introducing into evidence at trial that Peterka had prior convictions and had ostensibly cashed a forged money order (T 2020-21, 2023). Granted only as it pertained to the State's opening statement (T 375). The court, however, admitted the evidence during trial.

Peterka was tried before the Honorable Judge Erwin Fleet, and the jury found him guilty as charged (T 2042). The defendant then proceeded to the sentencing phase of the trial, and the jury recommended he die (T 2043). The court accepted that recommendation and sentenced him to death. In aggravation, it found:

- 1. Peterka was under sentence of imprisonment at the time he committed the murder.
- 2. The murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest.
- 3. The murder was committed for pecuniary gain.

- 4. The murder was committed to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of the laws.
- 5. The crime was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.

In mitigation, it found Peterka had no significant history of prior criminal activity. The court also said "there was evidence tending to show other mitigating circumstances, [but] the Court did not find any to exist." (T 2078)

Peterka filed a Motion for New Trial, which the court denied (T 2024-25).

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In February 1989 Daniel Peterka received two consecutive one year prison sentences in Nebraska (T 1136). He apparently fled the state before he began serving them, and by the late spring he had moved to Okaloosa County where he found a job at a local construction supply company (T 1648-49). The owner of the company, Shorty Purvis, also rented houses, and one of his tenants, John Russell (T 1648), had a difficult time paying his rent. Mrs. Purvis suggested that Johnson share the house with Peterka (T 1656), and he agreed to do so, and in April or May the defendant moved in with Johnson (T 1163).

Sometime later Peterka asked if he could use Russell's name and vital statistics to get a driver's license (T 1378). For \$100, Russell agreed, and a driver's license with Peterka's picture, but Russell's name and other information on it, was issued on June 27, 1989 (T 1642).

On July 12 he and Peterka had a fight over money

At trial the court admitted as evidence solely to show Russell's state of mind at the time he was killed that on June 27 Peterka had cashed a money order sent to Russell by forging his name on it (T 1428-29). His aunt had sent it to him as a birthday gift, and when she did not get any thank you note, she called her nephew (T 1428). Russell got a copy of the forged note and, after some investigation he believed Peterka had cashed it. By July 11 he had decided to let the police handle the matter (T 1457). Because these "facts" were not admitted for their truth, they are included by way of footnote. They are mentioned because the trial court's admission of them is an issue on appeal. (See issues VI and X.)

(T 2442-43). What initially had started as a shoving match, escalated into a fight (T 2443). The two men struggled in the living room where Peterka had laid a pistol that he had bought. Both of them saw the gun and went for it (T 2443). Peterka got it first, and as Russell got up from the couch in the living room, Peterka turned around and fired the weapon. The bullet entered the top of Russell's head, and he sat down on the couch then fell to the side (T 2444). The defendant tried to soak up the blood and do what he could, but Russell was dead.

Peterka panicked (T 2455-56), and he wrapped the body in a rug, put it in Russell's car, and drove to Eglin Air Force Base, where he buried it (T 1197). Later, he talked with his girlfriend, Frances Thompson, who had lived with Peterka in the house he shared with Russell (T 1608). He told her that he was wanted in Nebraska but did not want to go to prison (T 1613). They talked some more, and about midnight they went to Peterka's and Russell's house and spent the rest of the night there (T 1614). He went to work in the morning, and she left several hours later so she could get to her job (T 1615).

Russell had several friends and relatives in the area that he saw almost every day (T 1153, 1171, 1271). Gary Johnson, a lifelong friend and co-worker with Russell, noticed that Russell did not come to work on Thursday, July 13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>About noon that day she moved her things out of the house, and Russell had helped her load her belongings in her car (T 1610).

(T 1276). He remembered it because that was payday, and Russell had never missed work before (T 1276). Johnson went to Russell's house to check on Russell, but no one was home, although he saw Russell's car parked in front (T 1280). He broke into the house and wandered through it, noticing a pack of cigarettes, the keys to Russell's car, and a lighter. He also saw Peterka's gun, which was unloaded (T 1281-82). He stayed inside for only twenty minutes but returned after work when Peterka was home. The defendant told Johnson that Russell had left, and Peterka pointed out that Russell had left without taking his glasses, which was very unusual since he needed them to see (T 1287).

Kevin Trently, another friend, also dropped by the house on July 12 on his way home from work (T 1163-64). Peterka told him that Russell had left with someone the night before (T 1164).

Johnson called the police to report that Russell was missing, and they went to Peterka's and Russell's house about 8 p.m. (T 10). Peterka was at home with Thompson, and the deputy asked him if he knew the whereabouts of Russell (T 1351). The defendant said he had last seen Russell drive away with a person he described as being "tall, long scraggly type dark hair." (T 1352) On a table in the living room were Russell's glasses, his car keys, and a pack of cigarettes (T 1353). The officer asked Peterka for some identification, and he showed him his birth certificate because he had lost his driver's license (T 1353-54).

Later that night, the officer entered Peterka's name into a nationwide computer system, and shortly, he received a notice from Nebraska that the defendant had fled that state (T 1355). About 1 a.m. several police officers went to where Peterka lived and knocked on the front door. He answered their knock, obviously having been asleep, and after getting some shorts to wear, he went outside, where he was arrested (T 1360-61). Peterka let the police search the house, and once inside, they found a gun (T 1364). They did not seize it because the defendant said it belonged to a friend, and he produced a bill of sale verifying it (T 1365-66). The police did seize, however, his wallet which had the false driver's license as well as Russell's social security card, a bank card, Peterka's Nebraska Driver's license, and about \$400 (T 21).

They informed Peterka of his rights (T 23) afterwhich he told the them about "buying" Russell's identity. As to Russell's disappearance, he essentially said that when he last saw Russell he was leaving with someone (T 24). Peterka ended the interrogation by saying he did not want to answer anymore questions, and the officers stopped talking with him (T 56). He was put in jail, and the next morning (the 14th) he called Thompson. He told her what had happened, and she asked him what she should do with his things (T 143). He told her to keep them and the gun (T 144). She did as he had asked, and she also cleaned his house, for which Mrs. Purvis paid her (T 147).

The police resumed their questioning on the 18th (T 280). By this date, they had searched his house several times without a search warrant (T 59, 64). During these searches they found a blood stain underneath the couch, blood on the door frame, and blood in the trunk of Russell's car (T 91). After finding this evidence, the sheriff told Deputy Vinson talk with Peterka and "not come back without a confession." (T 287) Accordingly, he told the defendant that the State was planning to charge him with first degree murder based on the theory that he had killed Russell to complete his plan to assume Russell's identity. He also talked with him about the different degrees of murder, manslaughter, and the possibility of having killed Russell in the "heat of passion." Vinson did this, as he admitted, to "give [Peterka] an out." (T 288-89) Peterka did not say anything then but asked to talk with Shorty Purvis (T 214). Vinson arranged the call, and within a short while, Peterka's employer came to the jail. Peterka, crying and very emotional (T 214), wanted to confess to Purvis, but before he could do so, Purvis said he would have to tell the police everything he told him (T 97). The defendant agreed that was what he wanted (T 97-98), so Purvis called one of the jailers, who read Peterka his rights (T 102), gave him some paper and a pencil, then called an investigator (T 214). A short time later Vinson and the sheriff arrived, and Peterka told them about killing Russell.

After giving this statement, the defendant took the police officers to where he had buried Russell (T 103). He led them

to a deserted area on Eglin Air Force Base (T 262-265), and the body, when found, had extensively decomposed (T 1197).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Peterka has raised 11 issues in this capital appeal, seven guilt phase and five penalty phase questions, for this court to resolve. The first issue focuses upon the court excusing for cause a prospective juror Piccorossi because he was opposed to imposition of a death sentence for "practical purposes." This juror repeatedly said he would follow the court's instructions during the guilt and penalty phases of the trial. He would find it very hard, however, to give much weight to the aggravating factors. He never said that he would never recommend a death sentence, and there is no evidence that his views regarding the death penalty would have substantially interfered with his following the court's instructions or his duty to impartially determine Peterka's guilt and recommend the appropriate sentence. Merely being reluctant to return a death sentence is not a good reason to excuse a prospective juror.

When arrested, Peterka talked with the police but later he cut off further interrogation. The police honored that request then, but four days later officer Vinson reinitiated contact with Peterka. During this questioning, Vinson told him that the state was planning to charge him with first degree murder, but the killing may have been only been second degree murder or manslaughter if the defendant acted in the heat of passion. Vinson said this to give Peterka an out. The trial court suppressed all he had said until then.

After Peterka heard Vinson's explanation, he asked to talk with Shorty Purvis, and he confessed to him that he had killed

Russell accidentally. The court did not suppress this confession because it reasoned that by calling Purvis, he had voluntarily reopened his conversation with the police. That was error because the state presented no evidence that the taint of the illegal interrogations by Vinson had been removed. Without such evidence, the presumption arises that whatever Peterka may have said after the improper questioning was illegally obtained.

The court also erred in that it never considered the effect of Vinson's lure of the possibility of reduced charges upon Peterka. Had it done so, and had it then considered this improper influence upon Peterka in light of the presumption that his latter statements were tainted, it would not have hesitated in suppressing all of what the defendant said to the police.

The state's case regarding Peterka's intent when he killed Russell rests solely upon circumstantial evidence. Despite the defendant's claim that he only accidentally killed the victim, the state argued that the murder was only the last step in a bizarre plan to assume his identity. While there is evidence to support that theory, the evidence also supports the reasonable hypothesis that the killing happened as Peterka confessed. That is, the two men struggled and during the fight the defendant accidentally killed Russell. The bloodstains found on the couch supports this theory as does the defendant's pathetic efforts to explain away the presence of Russell's glasses and cigarettes. If this was the coolly planned and

executed killing the state hypothesized, he surely would have disposed of these items. He did not, and the reasonable, alternative explanation is that he accidentally killed Russell, and while still panicked he forgot to take the glasses and cigarettes. That explanation for the murder makes as much sense as the states, and that is all Peterka needed do to win a motion for judgment of acquittal based upon insufficient circumstantial evidence.

When the police asked the authorities in Nebraska if they wanted Peterka, they said they did, adding that he should be considered armed and dangerous. The court admitted that evidence because it clarified why the police who arrested the defendant for being a fugitive from Nebraska did "certain things." But why they did those things was not a material issue in this case, hence the evidence was irrelevant. It was also irrelevant because the police who arrested Peterka never considered him armed and dangerous. The evidence, moreover, was harmful in that it confirmed the state's theory that Peterka is a cold blooded killer.

The court admitted evidence that Peterka had forged a money order he had stolen from Russell because it rebutted Peterka's anticipated defenses of self-defense and accident. That is, the court admitted it to show Russell's state of mind. Evidence of the victim's state of mind, however, is generally irrelevant because there is the temptation for the state to use it to prove the defendant's state of mind. In this case that is precisely how the state used it during its closing argument.

Also, the two exceptions to the general rule against admitting evidence of the victim's state of mind argued by the state were irrelevant here. Peterka never claimed he killed Russell in self-defense, and the evidence also was inadmissible to show the killing was accidental. That is, Peterka never argued that Russell killed himself accidentally. He argued that the homicide was unintentional. The accident exception to the general rule against admitting evidence of the victim's state of mind is inapplicable because Peterka never argued Russell killed himself. If he had, evidence that Russell was afraid of guns would have been admissible to rebut that defense, but since it was not argued, evidence of Russell's state of mind was irrelevant.

At trial, the state sought to introduce photographs of the victim's skull and body as they appeared when was found. It also wanted Russell's skull, which had been cleaned, admitted. Peterka objected to all this evidence. The court, agreeing in part with the defendant, let him choose what evidence he wanted admitted, the skull or the photographs. Peterka chose the skull. Then shortly before the state's closed its case in chief, it sought to introduce all the photographs it had tried earlier to get admitted. The court rejected that request, except for exhibit 36, a photograph of Russell's head. Despite Peterka pointing out the court's previous ruling, it admitted that photograph. By doing so, the court denied Peterka his Sixth Amendment right to confront the medical examiner regarding the picture. Peterka never cross-examined him about

the picture, and he could not have done so. To have completely prevented him from questioning the forensic expert about the photograph of the skull was error.

In sentencing Peterka to death, the court merely listed several aggravating factors it believed applied to this case. It never provided any facts to support them, and its short summary preceding its findings generally do not support all the aggravating factors it found. This court has required sentencing orders to be of the utmost clarity, and it has also said that the trial courts should make findings of fact, not this court. By completely omitting any factual analysis for all of the aggravating factors, the trial court provided nothing for this court to review. Likewise, appellate counsel has nothing to argue. At best he must review the record and find facts he thinks might support a finding, and argue why they do not support that finding. This court should not do the work it has said the trial court is best suited to do, and appellate counsel should not have to find supporting facts and then argue why they are insufficient to support a particular aggravating factor.

The court found as an aggravating factor that Peterka killed Russell to disrupt or hinder the lawful exercise of any governmental function or the enforcement of laws. It presented no evidence to support this factor probably because the record provides none. Only sheer speculation justifies this finding.

Likewise, there is no evidence Peterka committed the murder for pecuniary gain. If he had stolen any money, it had

occurred two weeks before the killing, thus it was not necessary to obtain what he already had. This court has said that this aggravating factor applies only when the murder is necessary and direct link in the plan to obtain some wealth. Here the circumstantial evidence of the killing being for pecuniary gain is very weak, and the temporal separation and juxtaposition of the theft and the killing do not support a finding Peterka killed Russell for pecuniary gain.

The court, in its sentencing order, also said that other mitigation was present, but it did not find it to exist. That cursory dismissal of the mitigation violates this court's directions contained in <u>Campbell v. State</u>, Case No. 72,622 (Fla. June 14, 1990) in which this court said the court must, in writing, explain why it has rejected the mitigation argued by the defendant.

Finally, during the state's cross-examination of the defendant's mother, it asked her about his juvenile record, and specifically it questioned her about an uncharged theft of a gun. The state also never produced any evidence that Peterka had any juvenile criminal record. The court erred in letting the State question Peterka's mother about the uncharged theft of the gun, and it compounded that error by letting it question her about crimes for which it could not prove the defendant had been convicted of committing.

#### ARGUMENT

### ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN EXCUSING FOR CAUSE PROSPECTIVE JUROR PICCOROSSI BECAUSE HE WAS AGAINST IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY FOR "PRACTICAL PURPOSES," IN VIOLATION OF THE DEFENDANT'S EIGHTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

During jury selection, the court excused for cause prospective juror Piccorossi because he could not "tell the Court that he can weigh the aggravating and mitigating circumstances and make a decision in favor of the aggravating circumstances and vote accordingly which of course, the law would require." (T 802) The voir dire of this prospective juror is included as appendix A to this brief, but the gist of it was that although he opposed the death penalty because he was catholic, and it would be hard for him to think of a situation in which it would be called for, he would keep an open mind and follow the court's instructions (T 792-802).

The court's ruling raises the question of whether, under federal constitutional law, the court erred in excusing this member of the venire because, even though he would follow the law, he would be very reluctant to recommend a death sentence. Did the court err in excusing a law abiding prospective juror who would have a hard time recommending a death sentence?

The law in this area is simple. In <u>Wainwright v. Witt</u>,
469 U.S. 412, 105 S.Ct. 844, 83 L.Ed.2d 841 (1985), the United
States Supreme Court adopted language from its decision in
Adams v. Texas, 448 U.S. 38, 100 S.Ct. 2521, 65

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