FILED SID J. WHITE

FEB 22 1991

CLERK, SHIPHEME COURT

Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DANIEL PETERKA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,995

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR OKALOOSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 300179

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Finally, in addition to the above arguments, Appellee would contend that the record also indicates that the State adduced

sufficient evidence of premeditation to justify the iudge allowing the jury to consider the case. This Court has, of course, held that evidence from which premeditation may be inferred includes, inter alia, the existence of previous difficulties between the parties, the nature of the weapon used and the nature and manner of the wounds inflicted. See, e.g., Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981). In this case, Peterka used an extremely lethal weapon to commit his crime, i.e., a .357 Magnum, armed, no doubt, with hollow point jacketed or semi-jacketed bullets. Cf. Griffin v. State, 474 So.2d 777 (Fla. 1985) (premeditation shown by fact, inter alia, that defendant used particularly lethal gun with jacketed bullets having a high penetrating ability). The victim in this case was killed by a single shot directly to the brain, executed at such close range that it literally caused the brain and skull to explode and shatter. Cf. Sireci (nature and manner of wound inflicted). Further, there was testimony that the victim and defendant did not have a good relationship (R 1184), and that, within the twenty-four hours preceding the murder, Russell had told various people that he intended prosecuting Appellant for forgery (R 1454-1457, 1435); he was simply awaiting receipt of the original forged check, such item necessary for prosecution, when he was killed. Cf. Sireci (previous difficulties between the parties).

Finally, the actions which Peterka took after the murder are certainly consistent with a premeditated plan, i.e., cleaning up the duplex, burying the body in a remote spot a considerable

distance away and telling people that the victim had gone off with an unknown individual. Cf. Blair v. State, 406 So.2d 1103, 1107-1108 (Fla. 1981) (defendant's claim that he killed wife during argument and panicked, refuted by fact, inter alia, that he cleaned up evidence of crime, buried victim's body and told children that mother was in Miami). While the State also finds it reasonable to believe that the defendant's motive for killing the victim was to "assume his identity", a theory debunked by opposing counsel (Initial Brief at 27-31), the fact remains that the State presented sufficient evidence of premeditation to support the instant conviction of first degree Accordingly, such conviction and sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

POINT IV

REVERSIBLE ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED, IN REGARD TO THE ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF TESTIMONY CONCERNING THE NEBRASKA TELETYPE

As his next point on appeal, Peterka contends that the trial court erred when it allowed the admission into evidence of testimony concerning the contents of the Nebraska teletype regarding Appellant's status as a fugitive, i.e., that he was considered "armed and dangerous." This testimony occurred during the State's direct examination of Deputy Harkins, the officer who had arrested Peterka and obtained his first statement. Harkins testified, without objection, that he had run Peterka's name and birthdate through the computer to check for outstanding warrants (R 1355). The following then took place:

Q. Allright. What's a hit?

A. It came back with that same name and that same date of birth as being wanted as a fugitive from out of state, considered armed and dangerous.

(R 1355).

As noted in the Initial Brief, defense counsel objected to this testimony on hearsay grounds; while defense counsel also contended that admission of this testimony had been a violation of a prior rule in limine, it should be noted that that motion had been denied in its entirety (R 370-380). Judge Fleet overruled the hearsay objection, noting that the testimony was not being offered for the truth of its contents, but rather to explain the actions of the officer (R 1356). Defense counsel's motion for mistrial, on grounds of prejudice, was then denied (R 1357).

Harkins then continued testifying as to the events of the arrest, and during the course of this testimony, stated, over objection, that the information which he had received from Nebraska had given him reason to believe that Peterka would be in possession of a weapon or gun (R 1361, 1363-1364); in both instances, the inquiry was phrased so as to call for a yes or no answer, with the witness providing no elaboration (R 1361, 1363-1364). During defense counsel's cross-examination, he sought to impeach Harkins with alleged inconsistencies in his prior testimony, in regard to whether Peterka had in fact consented to the search of the house before the officers entered (R 1389-

1391). On re-direct, Harkins testified, over objection, that he had asked Peterka for permission to search the house because he had been informed that the Nebraska charges involved a burglary in which firearms had been taken (R 1403); the admission of this last matter has not been raised in the Initial Brief. Prior to Harkins testimony on re-direct, the court instructed the jury,

The jury's instructed that that's the only purpose for which you are to consider this answer of this witness is to show the reasons why he did a certain action and not for the purpose of proving the truth of the contents of the communications he received from Nebraska. (R 1402).

It is Appellant's contention on appeal that all of the above testimony was inadmissible hearsay which was unduly prejudicial to the defense. As to the question of whether or not the testimony was hearsay, the courts, in the past, would seem to have been divided. Compare Lane v. State, 430 So.2d 989 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983) (no "BOLO" exception to hearsay rule; admission of testimony nevertheless harmless), with Hulzberg v. State, 523 So.2d 699 (Fla. 4th DCA), cert. denied, 531 So.2d 1353 (Fla. 1988) (not error for officer to testify that computer check indicated that vehicle driven by defendant had stolen tag, where defendant never charged with offense in regard to stolen tag, as

At the prior suppression hearing, defense counsel had asserted that the officers had tricked Peterka into leaving the house, so as to be able to arrest him, and that, further, he had not consented to the warrantless search; defense counsel also contended that there had been no exigency to authorize a search for weapons at that time (R 315-317, 329-330). Accordingly, the State had elicited testimony from Harkins in regard to the Nebraska teletype and the fact that it had indicated that Peterka was armed (R 16-18, 44); such testimony obviously explains why the deputy searched for weapons.

such testimony not hearsay). In State v. Baird, 15 F.L.W. S613 (Fla. November 29, 1990), this Court put the matter to rest, holding that it was not hearsay for an officer to testify that he received information to the effect that the defendant was a major gambler and operator of a gambling operation in the area, inasmuch as such testimony had not been offered for the truth of This Court then went on to hold, however, that the matter. although the evidence went toward the officer's motive for investigating the defendant, such was not a material fact at issue before the jury at the time the testimony was elicited. Any error was found to be harmless under State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), in that admission of the testimony had simply been premature, and would have been proper had it come in on re-direct, following defense counsel's cross-examination on This Court concluded, that although the jury had the subject. not received a limiting instruction as to the manner in which it should consider the evidence, there was no reasonable probability that the verdict had been based upon admission of this testimony, in that the matter had never been brought to the jury's attention again, and, in that the State based its case on evidence which was properly before the jury.

Appellee respectfully submits that Baird is, in all respects, an instructive case. While the contested testimony therein differs somewhat from that at issue sub judice, in most other material respects, the cases are identical. As in Baird, it would appear that the State elicited this testimony during direct examination, because it anticipated, correctly, that the

defense would put the matter of the officer's motives at issue during cross-examination; again, as in Baird, the only error was that the evidence was introduced prematurely. Further, again, as in Baird, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt under The contents of the teletype, as well as its reference regarding Peterka as being "armed and dangerous", were never mentioned again during the trial, and neither defense counsel nor the prosecution referred to the matter during closing argument. Further, as in Baird, the State based its case upon evidence which was properly before the jury and, indeed, focused their attention on the murder itself. Finally, it must be noted that, in contrast to Baird, the jury in this case was given a limiting instruction, specifically being told that they were not to consider the evidence as going toward proving the truth of the contents of the Nebraska teletype (R 1402). As this Court noted in Baird, instructions of this type generally operate so as to limit the prejudicial effect of testimony such as that at issue. Baird, 15 F.L.W. at S614. While the instruction sub judice was given at the latter part of Harkins' testimony, there is no reason to believe that the jury did not regard this instruction as governing its consideration of all of the witness's testimony on this subject. Baird dictates that the instant conviction should be affirmed.

In applying the harmless error analysis under DiGuilio, the reviewing court looks to how the impermissible evidence might have influenced the jury's verdict, considering not only the evidence at issue but also the permissible evidence upon which

the jury could have legimitately relied; the focus is upon the effect of the alleged error upon the trier of fact. See, e.g., State v. Lee, 531 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1988). In pursuing this analysis, it is important to recognize the "boundaries" of the error asserted sub judice. Thus, Appellant is not arguing on appeal that admission of any testimony concerning his status as a fugitive is grounds for reversal. Cf. Czubak v. State, 570 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1990) (conviction reversed where irrelevant testimony concerning defendant's status as an escaped convict Indeed, Peterka could make no such argument, given admitted). the fact that his status as a fugitive was material and relevant, as going toward, inter alia, his motive for the offense. Further, at the time that the jury heard this testimony, they had already heard testimony from two other witnesses concerning the fact that Peterka had committed prior crimes in Nebraska and had fled before sentencing; indeed, during the testimony of the court clerk from Scottsbluff County, the State introduced into evidence complete case histories of Peterka's prior convictions (R 1134). This jury was likewise already aware, prior to the testimony of Deputy Harkins, that, in addition to being a fugitive, Peterka was armed, in that Gary Johnson had already testified as to his possession of the murder weapon (R 1213). Cf. Jackson v. State, 522 So.2d 862 (Fla. 1988) (erroneous admission of testimony unrelated to concerning defendant's possession of firearms homicide harmless error). Here, there is no reason to believe that the jury unduly speculated about Deputy Harkins' testimony concerning the Nebraska teletype in a manner so as to unduly

prejudice Peterka. Harkins' testimony did not distract the jury from the primary focus in this case and played no part in their ultimate rejection of Appellant's hypothesis of innocence. The instant conviction should be affirmed.

As opposing counsel notes in his brief, there would not seem to be a great deal of precedent directly on point in regard to Most of that which does exist pertains to the "collateral crime admission of what was deemed erroneous evidence". Appellee does not deem the instant claim of error as embracing such subject matter, in that, evidence of Peterka's fugitive status was material, relevant and properly admitted and, at most, Deputy Harkins simply offered some undue embellishment on an otherwise relevant subject. Thus, the claim at issue is not on a par with those involving the erroneous admission of a completely irrelevant subject. 6 Nevertheless, some of the following precedents, which involve the erroneous admission of collateral crime evidence, are relevant. The State would suggest that, in many respects, this case resembles Henderson v. State,

Because Appellee takes this position, the State does not regard as controlling such cases as Keen v. State, 504 So.2d 396, 401 (Fla. 1987), or Castro v. State, 547 So.2d 111, 115 (Fla. 1989), which provide that the erroneous admission of collateral crime evidence is "presumed harmful." Appellee would further question the continuing validity of this "presumption", which apparently derives from certain language in Straight v. State, 397 So.2d 903, 908 (Fla. 1981), in light of DiGuilio. The whole point of this Court's holding in DiGuilio was that all errors, including those previously deemed per se reversible, i.e., comments upon a defendant's right to silence, would be subject to the same harmless error analysis. It hardly furthers the teachings of DiGuilio to now enshrine another type of error, i.e., improper admission of collateral crime evidence, as somehow requiring a different type of analysis. As noted above, the DiGuilio standard for harmlessness has been satisfied in this case.

463 So.2d 196 (Fla. 1985). In such case, the jury heard testimony that, when the defendant turned himself in for the murders in question, he had also told the police that he was wanted in other states. This Court concluded that admission of this testimony had been error, but decided that such was harmless under the circumstances of the case. Those circumstances are quite comparable to the case sub judice. In Henderson, the defendant had murdered three hitchhikers and buried their bodies; the bodies were discovered when the defendant gave a statement to This statement, however, like Peterka's, was not the police. completely inculpatory, in that Henderson claimed that he had killed the victims because he was afraid that they were planning to kill him; at trial, the State persuaded the jury that this hypothesis of innocence was not reasonable and that evidence of premeditation existed. If, in Henderson, it was not reversible error for the jury to hear testimony concerning the defendant's status as a fugitive, which was totally irrelevant, it cannot be said sub judice that it was reversible error for this jury to have simply heard additional details as to Peterka's status as a fugitive, when such overall matter was properly admitted. instant conviction should Henderson dictates that the affirmed. See also Buenoano v. State, 527 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1988) (new trial not required where witness irrelevantly testified that defendant committed unrelated arson for insurance purposes, where, inter alia, curative instruction given); Robinson v. State, 520 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1988) (new trial not required where officer testified that murder weapon obtained during unrelated

burglary; error harmless); Fox v. State, 543 So.2d 340 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989) (reference to unrelated firearm charge against defendant harmless error); Kothman v. State, 442 So.2d 357 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (witness's reference to outstanding warrant from another state, irrelevant to prosecution, not grounds for reversal).

Thus, opposing counsel's belief that the jury in this case convicted Peterka because they regarded him as "a desperate fugitive" or, more exactly, because they heard that someone else might have regarded him in such a light, is simply not supported by the record. In contrast to the cases cited above, the testimony at issue did not impermissibly bring to the jury's totally collateral attention a matter to the proceeding. Furthermore, because the jury did learn the true nature of Peterka's prior convictions, which did not involve violence, there is not reason to believe that they engaged in prejudicial speculation. This one slip of the tongue by Deputy Harkins did not doom this prosecution or vitiate the entire trial, such that defense counsel's motion for mistrial should have been granted. See Buenoano, supra; Duest v. State, 462 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1985); Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1982). Because any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, under State v. DiGuilio, supra, the instant conviction of first degree murder should be affirmed in all respects.

POINT V

REVERSIBLE ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED, IN REGARD TO THE ADMISSION INTO EVIDENCE OF TESTIMONY CONCERNING RUSSELL'S FEAR OF PETERKA AND HIS INTENTION NOT TO CONFRONT APPELLANT ABOUT THE STOLEN MONEY ORDER

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